1992

# Kaylene S. Smith v. Odell M. Smith, Jr. : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION AND NATURE OF PROCEEDINGS

The Utah Court of Appeals has jurisdiction pursuant to Utah Code Annotated § 78-2a-3(2)(i), stating that the Court of Appeals has appellate jurisdiction over appeals from the District Court involving domestic relations cases, including but not limited to divorce and property division. Rule 3 of the Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure also indicates a procedure for taking appeals from judgments and orders of trial courts. This brief follows the structural requirements outlined in Rule 24 of the Utah Rules of Appellant Procedure. This is an appeal by Odell M. Smith, Jr., Defendant, from a judgment and Decree of Divorce.

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Whether the Trial Court abused its discretion in making the award of alimony that it did.
2. Whether the Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law are insufficient to support the award of alimony.



3. Whether the Court properly entered its Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law where Defendant's attorney objected to certain findings but withdrew as counsel.

4. Whether the Court erred in obligating Defendant to pay an income tax liability.

5. Whether the Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law are insufficient to support the award of attorney's fees.

#### STANDARD OF REVIEW ON APPEAL

The Standard of Review on Appeal is that the Appellate Court must reverse if there is a misapplication or misunderstanding of the law, if the evidence clearly preponderates against the findings or conclusions or if there is a serious inequity that must be rectified as set forth in English v. English, 565 P.2d 409, 410 (Utah 1977).

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from a Judgment and Decree of Divorce entered by the Honorable Clint S. Judkins sitting as a District Court Judge on or about October 14, 1992. <sup>1</sup> R. 68-78 (Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law).

At trial, Plaintiff (hereinafter referred to as "Kaylene") appeared and was represented by Attorney Jeff R. Thorne. Defendant (hereinafter referred to as "Odell"), appeared and was represented by Attorney Brent E. Johns. A trial was held on the matter in which the only witnesses were Kaylene, Odell and Kaylene's daughter. Judge Judkins entered his decision on the day of trial and Plaintiff's

attorney prepared a Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law and Decree of Divorce. (T. 173-178).

Kaylene's attorney prepared a Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law and Decree of Divorce and forwarded same to Odell's attorney on or about September 24, 1992. R. 66. (Letter to Brent Johns dated September 24, 1992.) Odell's attorney objected to paragraphs 10, 15, 16 and 17 of the Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law and Decree of Divorce as set forth in his letter to Kaylene's attorney dated October 1, 1992. R. 67 (Letter to Jeff Thorne dated October 1, 1992.) Odell's attorney withdrew as counsel on October 14, 1992. R. 84 (Withdrawal of Counsel.) Kaylene's attorney forwarded, together with a letter to the Court the Decree of Divorce, Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law as well as Brent Johns letter of October 1, 1992. R. 65 (Letter to Judge Judkins dated October 5, 1992.) Kaylene's attorney then submitted the Decree and Findings without making any of the changes suggested by Brent Johns, Odell's attorney. The Decree and Findings were submitted to Court together with a letter which indicated in part that it was being submitted for "either signing or modification as you see fit". R. 65 (Letter to Judge Judkins dated October 5, 1992.) Judge Judkins made one change at paragraph 16 of the Findings of Fact, signed the Decree of Divorce which was entered on October 14, 1992. R. 68 - 83 (Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law, Decree of Divorce.)

### STATEMENT OF FACTS

Kaylene and Odell met in the summer of 1980 when Kaylene gained employment as a secretary at Odell's Grain Elevator operation. Both parties were married to other people at the time. (T. 11 and 12) Some time later, the relationship developed into a romantic relationship. (T. 12) Kaylene obtained a divorce from her husband in 1983. The relationship continued on an irregular basis until Odell was divorced. Odell obtained a divorce from his wife in 1986. (T. 13 and 69) At that time, Odell assisted Kaylene in moving to Brigham City, Utah in January of 1986. (T. 70) Odell also moved into a separate residence in Brigham City, Utah in June of 1986. (T. 70 and 71) The parties maintained separate residences but continued their relationship until they were married on August 14, 1989. (T. 17 and 73 - 74) The parties did not live together under one roof or hold themselves out to be married until the time they were married in 1989. (T. p. 175)

Pursuant to his divorce from his former wife, Odell received a settlement to compensate him for his interest in the family farm operation which settlement, actually received by Odell, was \$249,000.00. It is disputed as to both the amount of settlement and as to how the amounts were arrived at. Odell did not work during the time of the marriage, as a result of a head injury. (T. p. 116) Kaylene worked for Brigham Realty, Richard's Manufacturing Jewelers and Weinstocks while the parties resided in Brigham City. (T. p. 51 - 53).

Kaylene filed a Verified Complaint, Order to Show Cause and Temporary Restraining Order on September 13, 1991 (R. 1 - 11). A trial was held on August 28, 1992, and the divorce entered October 14, 1992. T. 68 - 78 (Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law) Odell filed a timely appeal from this decision on November 12, 1992. R. 85 and 86. (Notice of Appeal)

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Odell's Appeal is primarily centered around three (3) issues, those being alimony, division of an income tax liability and attorney fees. The Court abused its discretion in these areas or entered Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law which were not adequately supported by the evidence or which were insufficient altogether.

It is also an issue as to whether the Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law were appropriately entered, given the Withdrawal of Odell's attorney simultaneous to entry of those Findings and Conclusions.

With regard to alimony, the Court erred in at least three (3) aspects. First, the findings are inadequate and are not based upon the evidence at trial. The Findings specifically note that the parties did not, prior to marriage, represent themselves to be husband and wife. In fact, this finding was a specific ruling wherein the Court held that even though there was a long term relationship there was no marriage relationship that existed prior to the formal marriage of the parties. T. 175. Notwithstanding

this fact, the findings contained certain items which were contested at trial and objected to by Odell's attorney. Those being the statement that it was commonly recognized by Plaintiff's family that they were "living together" the majority of the time for 1986 to the time they were married and certain implications with regard to Kaylene's employment being terminated based upon the wishes of Odell. R. 68, 69, 73, 77. The findings and conclusions entered by the Court simply are not supported by the evidence at trial and should not have been entered based upon the objections by Odell's attorney.

Second, the findings do not specifically note Odell's ability to earn income or his expenses. The findings do note what Kaylene's current income is but do not set forth what her ability to earn income is.

Finally, the Court further erred in its award of alimony based upon an error which the Court made at trial in failing to allow Odell to introduce certain documents which had great bearing on the terms of the parties pre-marital relationship and upon Kaylene's veracity. These documents, Odell's exhibit 4 and 5.

Odell will further show, on appeal, that the Court erred in requiring him to pay the income tax liability incurred as a result of Kaylene taking an income tax refund and cashing the check when that refund should have been returned to the State Tax Commission as a result of the parties filing an amended and joint income tax return.

The final issue on appeal is attorney fees which were inappropriately awarded on the basis that there was no showing of need by Kaylene, for that award. The Court in this case entered findings which preponderate against the actual evidence taken at trial and which resulted in a serious inequity between the parties. As such, the case should be reversed and remanded.

#### ARGUMENT

##### POINT I.

##### THE COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION IN ITS AWARD OF ALIMONY.

The Court should remand this case for further findings with regard to alimony or should reverse the alimony award altogether on the basis that the Findings and Conclusions entered below are not sufficient to support the alimony award. In the alternative, the Court should reverse with regard to alimony on the basis that the evidence at trial preponderates against the finding of alimony entered by the Court.

A. The Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law are inadequate to support the award of alimony.

The factors that a Court must consider in making an award of alimony are well established in recent case law. These factors are 1, the financial conditions and needs of the wife; 2, the ability of the wife to produce an income for herself; and 3, the ability of the husband to provide

support. See Jones v. Jones, 700 P.2d 1072, 1075 (Utah 1985). In viewing the Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law then, this Court must consider whether the Findings address each of those factors.

The first factor is the financial conditions and needs of the wife. This factor is probably the most clearly addressed in the findings of fact which are as follows:

1. Prior to the parties marriage the Plaintiff was working and earning net income of approximately \$1,000.00 per month. Plaintiff also was earning \$1,000.00 during this marriage. The Plaintiff terminated her employment and Plaintiff is now only making approximately \$400.00 income per month. R. 73 (Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law)

2. That the Plaintiff needs income on an average monthly basis of \$1,162.00 to enable her to live similar to how she lived during the marriage and to meet her current living expenses and obligations. R. 73 (Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law)

3. The Plaintiff has suffered an economic disadvantage as a result of the marriage in that she does not have as good employment as she had before the marriage and during the marriage before she quit her employment at the urging of the Defendant... . R. 77 (Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law)

With regard to the second factor, that being the

ability of the wife to produce an income for herself, there is no specific finding except as otherwise listed above.

There is also no specific finding as to Odell's ability to provide support. The only thing mentioned with regard to Odell's financial situation was the amounts of money that he received prior to this marriage as a settlement from a divorce from his former wife. This settlement was specifically to compensate Odell for his share of marital assets in the first marriage. R. 70 (Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law). The only other finding or conclusion of law with regard to Odell's earning potential was that there was some interest earned on bank accounts at First Security Bank in Idaho. However, the Court specifically found that that income was dissipated in living expenses during the time the parties were married. R. 77 (Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law)

The Utah Supreme Court has clearly held that the trial court must make findings on all material issues. Acton v. Deliran, 737 P.2nd 996 (Utah 1987). These findings should be sufficiently detailed and include enough subsidiary facts to disclose the steps by which the ultimate conclusion on which factual issue was reached. Stevens v. Stevens, 754 P.2nd 952, 958 (Utah 1988). Quoting Rucker v. Dalton, 598 P.2nd 1336, 1338 (Utah 1979).

In the case at bar, the only specific finding as to the financial condition and the need of Kaylene was that she had



a need of living expenses in the amount of \$1,162.00 per month. There is no finding as to her ability to produce income simply that she was, at the time of trial, earning \$400.00 per month as opposed to the \$1,000.00 per month which she had earned prior to and during the marriage. The Court completely failed to enter adequate findings as to the ability of Odell to provide support. All the Court finds in this regard is that he has assets which he acquired to marriage. The Supreme Court has clearly held that Findings of Fact made by the trial court which fail to specifically set forth the paying spouse's financial condition, income and ability to pay are insufficient. Stevens, at 958. There is no specific finding as to how much Odell makes on a monthly basis or what his ability to pay is relative to his own living expenses.

The Court further erred in entering a finding and conclusion which, by its own terms is contradictory. Judge Judkins, scratched out a portion of paragraph 16 of the Findings of Fact and eliminated language which says that Plaintiff terminated her employment because of the wishes and desires of the Defendant. Notwithstanding this fact, the Court allowed as a conclusion of law that Plaintiff had suffered an economic disadvantage as a result of the marriage and that she does not have as good as employment as she had before the marriage and during the marriage before she quit her employment at the urging of the Defendant. R.

77 (Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law). These two statements contradict themselves. Even were these statements excluded, the findings are not support by evidence at trial.

The evidence showed that the parties had a marriage which lasted from August 14, 1989 to approximately August of 1991 when the parties were separated and a verified complaint was filed. Further, Odell testified that, at least a portion of that two (2) year marriage Kaylene did not live with him on a steady basis. T. 103 - 110. The Court abused its discretion in ordering Odell to pay alimony of almost \$29,000.00 on a two (2) year marriage, where he has no independent source of income other than pre-marital assets or social security and where that marriage was centered around a relationship which can best be described as sporadic.

B. The Court erred in entering the Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law when those Findings and Conclusions were disputed.

Kaylene's attorney prepared the Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law and forwarded those to Odell's attorney on September 24, 1992. R. 66. Odell's attorney replied by a letter dated October 1, 1992, indicating that he disagreed with the Findings at paragraph 10, 15, 16 and 17 and paragraph 14 of the Decree of Divorce on the basis that they appeared more as arguments at Court rather than specific

Findings. R. 67. (Letter to Jeff Thorne dated October 1, 1992). Rather than revise the Findings, Kaylene's attorney submitted them to the Court with a letter to Judge Judkins dated October 5, 1992 with a notation that "it appears that we are not able to agree as to what should be placed in the Findings and Conclusions; therefore, I am submitting them to you for either signing or modification as you see fit". The Court made one change to paragraph 16 of the Findings of Fact and made no changes to the Decree of Divorce. R. 73 - 83 (Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Decree of Divorce). Without other dealings or input as to the content of the Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law, Odell's attorney withdrew as counsel on October 14, 1992.

Two (2) errors were committed throughout this course of events. First, Odell's attorney should have objected under Rule 4-504 of the Utah Rules of Judicial Administration, to the proposed Findings, Judgments and Decree. Second, the Court should not have modified the Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law without a hearing on the matter. As set forth above, certain of the Findings especially with regard to alimony took the form of arguments at trial rather than actual findings of the Court. Notwithstanding this fact, they were entered as the court's findings without hearing or other input by Odell's attorney. As such, the Findings are against the weight of the evidence and are improperly entered under Rule 4-504 of the Utah Rules of Judicial Administration.

C. The Court erred in failing to allow admission of certain evidence.

Kaylene testified at trial the parties entered into a relationship in 1980 which became intimate in approximately January of 1981. From that point forward that the relationship "continued on a regular basis" during the entire time that Kaylene worked for Odell. T. 12. Kaylene further testified that marriage was "talked about all the time", T. 13, and that when Odell moved to Brigham that he was living with Kaylene until he bought a separate residence and that they had a regular relationship going on "month after month after month". T. 15, 16. Kaylene later admitted on cross-examine that they did see other people for a period of time in 1988, that they were not living as husband and wife from the period of 1986 to 1988 and that she "saw one other man and was with him maybe two (2) times". T. 41 - 44. Kaylene further testified that Odell never spent time staying with his parents during the time that the parties lived in Brigham. T. 42. Most of these statements were contradicted by Odell.

Odell testified on direct examination that the relationship was "explosive and unpredictable and very uncertain". T. 77. Odell further testified that he moved directly into the Condominium in Brigham and, impliedly, did not live with Kaylene for a period of two (2) months. T. 73. Odell testified that he spent a great deal of time at his

parents home and spent the night there at least twice a week. T. 81 - 85. Odell further testified, in contradiction to Kaylene's testimony that he did not want her to quit her job at Brigham Realty and did not want her to quit her job at Richard's Manufacturing Jewelers. T. 99 and 100.

Odell's attorney attempted to admit into evidence, a letter marked Defendant's exhibit #4, which was a letter to Kaylene's girlfriend in Idaho and dated January 7, 1990. Odell testified that he found the letter in the garbage where it was torn up and that he pieced it together. The first page of exhibit #4 was read into evidence. Odell's attorney also attempted to admit exhibit #5, another letter from Kaylene to her parents and dated January 5, 1990 into evidence. This letter was also found in the trash where it had been torn up and was also pieced back together by Odell. At trial, the following exchange took place:

MR. THORNE: Well, again, your honor, I guess I am having some problem. If I understand both of these, these were written and may have expressed her thought process, but she tears them up and doesn't send them and communicated them.

THE COURT: How is it material what she threw in the garbage? If they had received the letters, maybe, but she throws them in the garbage.

MR. JOHNS: It is material in that it shows her thought processes. It shows her commitment to the marriage, in the case of this first one. This one will show her relationship with Odell regarding the job. This one will go on an entirely different track, your honor, because this one is going to show, and what we are offering this for, is to show the quitting of the job at Nordstrom and at Richards Manufacturing Jewelers was at her desire and her interest, counter to her previous testimony on the stand. Now that's what this particular letter is going to go for.

MR. THORNE: Well --

MR. JOHNS: And their statements to that fact.

THE COURT: I am going to sustain the objection. If the letter had been delivered then it would be a different situation, but where she wrote a letter and threw it away, obviously torn up, I don't see that that's material. I am going to sustain the objection, unless you can show anything else. T. 96 - 97.

Neither exhibit 4 or exhibit 5 was admitted into evidence. Brent Johns, Odell's attorney specifically pointed out that the letters go to Kaylene's veracity and contradicts her previous testimony. T. 94.

The Court apparently declined to admit these letters into evidence on the basis that they were thrown away rather than delivered.

It is not certain as to what rule of evidence the Court relied on in declining to allow these letters into evidence. Since the Court made inquiry as to the letters relevance it is assumed that the letters were not admitted into evidence on the basis of relevance. However, relevant evidence under Rule 401 of the Utah Rules of Evidence "means evidence having any tendency to make the existence of any fact that is of consequence to the determination of the action more probable or less probable than it would be without the evidence". Utah Rules of Evidence Rule 402. If the evidence is relevant then all relevant evidence is admissible unless its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice. See, Utah Rules of Evidence Rules 402 & 403. In the case at bar there is no evidence as to whether the probative value of these letters

were substantially out weighed by the danger of unfair prejudice. It is not certain whether the Court declined to admit them into evidence on the basis of relevancy.

The second option as to the Court's failure to admit these letters is under some notion that they do not go to the credibility of the witness or the witnesses veracity as submitted by Odell's attorney. The letters were to be admitted to show differences in what Kaylene had written in the letters regarding seeing other men and her statements regarding Odell urging her to quit her jobs. Rule 613 of the Rules of Civil Procedure governs prior statements of witnesses. 613 (b) provides as follows:

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