1992

Kaylene S. Smith v. Odell M. Smith, Jr. : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Defendant's Appeal is primarily centered around three issues, those being alimony, division of an income tax liability and attorney fees. The Court did not abuse its discretion in these areas, and entered Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law which were adequately supported by the evidence.

The Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law were appropriately entered, irrespective of the withdrawal of defendant's attorney after the trial had ended.

With regard to alimony, the Court did not err in its award to

plaintiff. First, the Findings are adequate and are supported by the evidence at trial. Second, the Findings address the financial condition and needs of the plaintiff; the ability of plaintiff to produce an income for herself; and the ability of defendant to provide support. Finally, the Court properly excluded defendant's exhibits 4 and 5, under the Utah Rules of Evidence, Rules 402 and 403.

The Court did not err in requiring defendant to pay the income tax liability incurred as a result of the parties filing an amended and joint income tax return.

The final issue defendant raises on appeal is attorney fees which were appropriately awarded on the basis that there was a showing of need on the part of the plaintiff for that award, and there was also a showing of the reasonableness of the fees. The trial court in this case entered findings which are supported by the actual evidence taken at trial. As such, the trial court's ruling should be affirmed.

ARGUMENT

POINT I.

THE COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION IN ITS AWARD OF ALIMONY

The Court should affirm the alimony award on the basis that the Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law entered below are

sufficient to support the alimony award.

A. The Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law are Sufficient to Support the Award of Alimony.

The trial court, in a divorce action, has considerable latitude of discretion in adjusting financial and property interests. A party appealing therefrom has the burden to prove there was a misunderstanding or misapplication of the law resulting in substantial and prejudicial error; or the evidence clearly preponderated against the findings; or such a serious inequity has resulted as to manifest a clear abuse of discretion. English v. English, 565 P.2d 409, 410 (Utah 1977) (citing Baker v. Baker, 551 P.2d 1263 (Utah 1976)). The trial court in this case did not abuse its discretion. The award of alimony in this action was consistent with the purposes of an alimony award as articulated by this Court.

The Court has described the purpose of alimony: "The most important function of alimony is to provide support for the wife as nearly as possible at the standard of living she enjoyed during marriage, and to prevent the wife from becoming a public charge." English, 565 P.2d at 411. An alimony award should, to the extent possible, equalize the parties' respective post-divorce living standards and maintain them at a level as close as possible to that standard of living enjoyed during the marriage. Rasband v. Rasband,

752 P.2d 1331, 1333 (Utah App. 1988) (citing Gardner v. Gardner, 748 P.2d 1076, 1081 (Utah 1988); Jones v. Jones, 700 P.2d 1072, 1075 (Utah 1985)).

In this action the award fulfills the stated purpose of an alimony award. Prior to the parties' marriage the plaintiff was working and earning a net income of approximately \$1,000.00 per month. Plaintiff also was earning \$1,000.00 per month during the marriage. The plaintiff terminated her employment, and is now only making approximately \$400.00 per month in income. R. 73 (Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law)

The Court found that the plaintiff has suffered an economic disadvantage as a result of the marriage in that she does not have as good as employment as she had before the marriage. R. 77 (Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law) The Court then ordered defendant to pay alimony to the plaintiff in the amount of \$643.00 per month for a period of one year. Thereafter, defendant was ordered to pay alimony in the amount of \$600.00 per month for the next two years. R. 77-78 (Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law)

The award of \$600.00 per month alimony will allow plaintiff to maintain the standard of living she enjoyed prior to and during the marriage. The \$400.00 per month income that the plaintiff is now earning, and the \$600.00 per month alimony award will allow

plaintiff to approximate her accustomed standard of living.

The alimony award will also serve to equalize the parties' respective post-divorce living standards. Defendant after paying the \$600.00 per month will still be left with sufficient resources to maintain his standard of living. The record clearly indicates that defendant will have sufficient interest income and social security income to maintain himself in his accustomed standard of living. The record also tends to show that defendant received approximately \$25,000.00 per year in rental income from a lease of three sections of property to his son. T. 232 and 236

Defendant will earn a substantial amount of interest income from Smith Farms, Zions Bank, First Security Bank, and other sources. T. 135 As part of his written settlement agreement with his first wife, defendant was entitled to cash payments of \$210,000.00 and \$150,000.00. The \$210,000.00 was to be paid \$30,000.00 on or before April 20, 1986, \$30,000.00 upon the closing of a loan, \$150,000.00 payable in annual payments of \$25,000.00 per year including interest at the rate of 8 percent. Additionally, defendant was to be paid by his former wife an additional \$150,000.00 within five years from the date of the divorce. R. 70 (Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law) Defendant will also earn interest on his account with American First Credit Union that had

a balance of \$41,275.00 as of September 14, 1991, as well as on his share savings account that had a balance of \$9,532.16. R. 70 (Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law)

Defendant also had five different certificates of deposit with First Security Bank in Challis, Idaho. The money was deposited on March 27, 1991, each account had an initial deposit of \$36,000.00, and accrued interest at the rate of 6.83% per annum. These accounts totalled \$180,000.00 on March 17, 1992. R. 71 (Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law)

Defendant also received the sum of \$249,120.93, on or about March 27, 1991, for his share of any interest in the farm properties he was awarded under his prior divorce decree. Defendant is unable to state whether the money constituted earnings off the farm property or whether it was all principal and interest from the sale of the property. R. 71 (Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law) Regardless of the source of the money, in the future defendant will be able to earn substantial income in the form of interest from this sum.

Defendant is also eligible for social security. Defendant stated that he would be entitled to approximately \$350.00 per month.

Defendant cannot be heard to claim that he has no income with

which to pay the alimony award. Just because defendant is unemployed and therefore earns no income from wages, this does not mean that defendant has no income. In fact as set out above, defendant has substantial income from interest earnings as well as his entitlement to social security. Defendant is entitled to \$350.00 per month in social security for a total of \$4,200 per year, and defendant receives \$10,000.00 - \$12,000.00 per year in interest income. T. 275 Defendant clearly will be able to maintain his standard of living after paying the alimony award.

The award will also serve to equalize the parties' respective post-divorce living standards. At plaintiff's current income level she is earning only \$4,800.00 per year. Without the alimony, there would be a great disparity between plaintiff's and defendant's respective standards of living. Thus, the award of alimony is necessary to partially equalize the disparity in the parties' post-divorce standards of living.

As the Court has stated, this court will not disturb the trial court's award of spousal support absent a showing of a clear and prejudicial abuse of discretion. Rasband, 752 P.2d at 1333 (citing Paffel v. Paffel, 732 P.2d 96, 100 (Utah 1986)). As set out above, the alimony award in this action serves the very purpose of alimony in allowing plaintiff to maintain her standard of living, and

equalizing the parties' post-divorce living standards. Thus, the trial court clearly did not abuse its discretion.

The Court in Jones, 700 P.2d at 1075, articulated three factors that must be considered in fixing a reasonable alimony award: 1. the financial conditions and needs of the wife; 2. the ability of the wife to produce a sufficient income for herself; and 3. the ability of the husband to provide support.

The Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law in this action address the three factors set out above.

First, the financial condition and needs of the plaintiff are addressed in the Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law. The plaintiff has suffered an economic disadvantage as a result of the marriage in that she does not have as good as employment as she had before the marriage and during the marriage before she quit her employment due, at least in part, to the urging of the defendant. R. 77 (Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law) The plaintiff is currently employed and earning approximately \$400.00 per month. This is compared with the \$1,000.00 per month plaintiff was earning before and during part of the marriage. R. 73 (Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law) The plaintiff needs an income on an average monthly basis of \$1,162.00 to enable her to live similar to how she lived during the marriage, and to meet her current living expenses

and obligations. R. 73 (Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law) Thus plaintiff is in need of approximately \$762.00 per month to maintain her standard of living.

Second, the ability of plaintiff to produce a sufficient income for herself is also stated in the Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law. As set out under the first factor, plaintiff's current income is only \$400.00 per month. R. 73 (Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law) Plaintiff has not been able to find employment that will produce sufficient income for her to support herself.

Plaintiff was employed at a job with Weinstocks that would have allowed her to support herself. However, defendant and plaintiff came to a mutual agreement that plaintiff should leave that job. T. 211, 212, and 252 The transcript reveals evidence of defendant's displeasure with plaintiff's job, and his feelings that plaintiff should leave the job. Plaintiff stated that defendant did not want her to work, rather defendant wanted plaintiff to stay home with him. T. 128 and 159 The job at Weinstocks was hard on the marriage since plaintiff often had to work from 4:00 to 5:00 p.m. until midnight. T. 161 and 163 Defendant did not believe the job was worth the expense, and the wear and tear on their car. T. 163, 208, 211, and 212 Defendant also felt that plaintiff's safety

was at risk working at the job at Weinstocks. Defendant stated that he had heard that cars had been broken into and people had been mugged in the parking lot at plaintiff's employment. T. 208 and 209 Plaintiff agreed with defendant's concerns and left her job. Thus, defendant's urging led plaintiff to give up the job that would have allowed her to come closer to supporting herself.

Plaintiff's future ability to produce sufficient income for herself has also been brought into question by her present medical condition. That plaintiff is in need of surgery was established in evidence pursuant to a letter from Dr. C. M. Dibble. Plaintiff's condition requiring this surgery arose during the marriage. R. 73 (Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law) Plaintiff does not have enough money for the surgery, and it is not clear whether or not she will be physically capable of full-time work until she has had the surgery. T. 132

Third, the ability of the defendant to provide support has also been shown. Although defendant was unable or unwilling to explain his present financial condition, certain facts may be extracted from the Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law and from the transcript. As part of the settlement agreement with defendant's first wife, he was entitled to cash payments of \$210,000.00 and \$150,000.00. The \$210,000.00 was to be paid

\$30,000.00 on or before April 20, 1986, \$30,000.00 upon the closing of a loan, \$150,000.00 payable in annual payments of \$25,000.00 per year including interest at the rate of 8% per annum. Defendant was also to receive an additional \$150,000.00 within five years from the date of the divorce. R. 70 (Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law) Defendant also had an account with American First Credit Union with a balance of \$41,275.00, and a share savings account in the amount of \$9,532.16. Defendant also had five different certificates of deposit with First Security Bank in Challis, Idaho. Each account had an initial deposit of \$36,000.00 and accrued interest at the rate of 6.83% per annum. The accounts totalled \$180,000.00 on March 17, 1992. R. 70 and 71 (Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law)

Defendant also received \$249,120.93 on or about March 27, 1991, for his share of any interest in the farm properties he was awarded under his prior divorce decree. Defendant was unable to articulate how the amount of money was computed. Defendant was also unable to articulate whether the money constituted earnings off the farm property which he held in common with his ex-wife, or whether it was all principal and interest from the sale of the property. R. 71 (Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law)

Defendant is also eligible for social security of

approximately \$350.00 per month.

Although the Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law address the defendant's ability to provide support, the Court must also consider the transcript from this action. The Court need only make a cursory review of the transcript, especially the cross-examination of defendant, to understand the difficulty in determining defendant's financial condition. Defendant was clearly unable or unwilling to disclose his financial condition; however, certain facts may be clearly drawn from the transcript.

It is clear that defendant will earn a substantial amount of interest income from Smith Farms, Zions Bank, First Security Bank, and other sources. T. 135 Defendant made over \$17,480.72 in interest income in a two year period during the marriage. Defendant reported this interest income as joint income on his tax returns over the two years. T. 247 and 248

In considering defendant's entire financial position it appears that defendant earns \$350.00 per month from social security, and \$10,000.00 - \$12,000.00 per year in interest income. T. 275 Defendant also stated that he received approximately \$25,000.00 per year in rental income from a lease of three sections of farming property. T. 232 and 236 Despite defendant's inability or unwillingness to completely outline his financial condition,

taking the Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law and the evidence from the transcript as a whole, it appears clear that defendant has the ability to provide support.

The Court has stated that [i]f these three factors have been considered, we will not disturb the trial court's alimony award unless such a serious inequity has resulted as to manifest a clear abuse of discretion. Rappleye v. Rappleye, 215 Utah Adv. Rep. 45, 47 (Utah App. 1993) (citing Morgan v. Morgan, 213 Utah Adv. Rep. 22, 26 (Utah App. 1993)) (quoting Schindler v. Schindler, 776 P.2d 84, 90 (Utah App. 1989)) (citation omitted). No serious inequity has resulted in this case. Plaintiff has been placed in a position, due to the alimony award, where she may be able to maintain the standard of living she enjoyed prior to the marriage. The trial court considered the three factors, as set out above, and did not abuse its discretion. Thus, this Court should not disturb the trial court's alimony award.

B. The Court Did Not Err in Entering the Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law.

The trial court asked plaintiff's attorney to prepare the Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law, and send them to opposing counsel for approval, and then to see that they were submitted to the court. T. 284 Plaintiff's attorney prepared the Findings and

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